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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE W ESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

ROANOKE DIVISION

DAVID B. SEARS,
Civil Action No. 7:14CV00036

M EM ORANDUM  OPINION
Plaintiff,

BARETTA FINAN CIAL,

Defendant.

Hon. Glen E. Conrad
Chief United States District Judge

This ease is presently before the court on plaintiff David B. Sears' motion for default

judgment. For the reasons set forth below, the motion will be granted.

Backzround

On January 23, 2014, Sears filed this action against Baretta Financial, a California

comoration, alleging violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (StFDCPA''), 15 U.S.C.

jj 1692-1692p. On September 3, 2014, after being granted an extension of time in which to

accomplish service of process, Sears served Baretta Financial through the Secretary of the

Commonwea1th of Virginia, pursuant to Virginia Code j 8.01-329. On October 29, 2014, the

Clerk of the Secretary of the Com monwea1th issued a Certiticate of Compliance, which was filed

with the eourt on November l4, 2014.

Despite being properly served, Baretta Financial failed to answer or othenvise defend the

action within the time period permitted by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. On April 1,

2015, the Clerk filed an entry of default against Baretta Financial. Baretta Financial has not

m oved to set aside the entry of default, or otherwise appeared in any m anner in this case. Sears

has now moved for defaultjudgment.
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Standard of Review

Under Rule 55 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, default judgment is a two-step

process. See Jefferson v. Briner. Inc., 461 F. Supp. 2d 430, 433 (E.D. Va. 2006). Prior to entry

of defaultjudgment, there must be an entry of default. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(a). After default is

entered by the Clerk, a party may move the court for default judgment under Rule 55(b).

Upon default, all of the well-pleaded facts alleged in the complaint may be taken as true.

See Ryan v. Homecomings Fin. Network, 253 F.3d 778, 780 (4th Cir. 2001) (t<(Tjhe defendant, by

his default, admits plaintiff s well-pleaded allegations of factg.j'') (internal citation omitted); see

also Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b)(6).Accordingly, in the defaultjudgment context, the Esappropriate

inquiry is whether or not the face of the pleadings supports the default judgment and the causes of

action therein.'' Anderson v. Found. for Advancem ent. Educ. & Em p't of Am . lndians, No.

99-1508, 1999 U.S, App. LEXIS 18633, at *2 (4th Cir. Aug. 10, 1999).

Although the well-pleaded factual allegations in a com plaint are accepted as true for

purposes of default judgment, a pal'ty who defaults does not admit the allegations as to the amount

of dnmages. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(b)(6) (providing that çklaln allegation - other than one relating

to the amount of damages - is admitted if a responsive pleading is required and the allegation is not

denied''). Consequently, if the court detennines that liability is established, it must then

determine the appropriate am ount of damages. Ryan, 253 F.3d at 780-8 1. ln so doing, the court

may conduct an evidentiary hearing under Rule 55(b)(2). The court may also make a

detennination of dam ages without a hearing as long as there is an adequate evidentiary basis in the

record for the award. See Anderson, 155 F.3d at 507 (noting that çiin some circumstances a

district court entering a default judgment may award damages ascertainable from the pleadings

without holding a hearing'').



Discussion

1. Liabilitv under the FDCPA

The FDCPA was enacted to protect consumers from abusive and deceptive practices by

debt collectors, and to protect non-abusive debtor collectors from com petitive disadvantage.

United States v. Nat'l Fin. Servs., lnc., 98 F.3d 131, 135 (4th Cir. 1996). lt is t(a strict liability

statute that prohibits false or deceptive representations in collecting a debt, as well as certain

abusive debt collection practices.'' McLean v. Rav, 488 F. App'x 677, 682 (4th Cir. 2012). ln

order to establish a violation of the FDCPA, the plaintiff must prove: (1) that the defendant is a

Sfdebt collector'' as defined by the FDCPA; (2) that the plaintiff has been the object of collection

activity arising from a consumer debt; and (3) that the defendant has engaged in an action or

omission prohibited by the FDCPA. Ruggia v. Wash. Mut., 719 F. Supp. 2d, 642, 647 (E.D. Va.

201 0). (tBecause the FDCPA is a strict liability statute, a consumer need only prove one violation

to trigger liability.'' Grant-Fletcher v. McMullen & Dnzrv. P.A., 964 F. Supp. 2d 514, 521 (D.

Md. 2013).

According to the complaint, Baretta Financial çdregularly collects or attempts to collect,

directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another,'' and, thus, is a

kûdebt collector'' for puposes of the FDCPA. See 15 U.S.C. j 1692a(6). In October of 2013,

Baretta Financial attempted to collect on a consum er debt that it claimed Sears owed in the am ount

of $28,646.97. Specifically, on or about October 30, 2013, Baretta Financial sent Sears a letler

that was styled as a CSLITIGATION NOTICE.'' Compl. Ex. B. 1ts subject line included

SSBARETTA FW ANCIAL vs. DAVID SEARS'' and çdcase No. KL0000044l 10.'' J#=. The letter

stated that Sears had ignored previous attempts to resolve the matter and that a lawsuit may be thc

next step, ûtresulting in a judgment'' against Sears. 1d. lt also stated that a judgment may be

collected tluough wage gam ishm ent, levy on bank accounts, or liens on real or personal property,

3



am ong other m ethods. The letter instructed Sears to contact Baretta Financial within ten days or

litigation would be comm enced.

Baretta Financial has not filed suit against Sears. Sears alleges that the statements in the

letter regarding litigation were false, that Barretta Financial knew that they were false at the time

the letter was sent, and that the statements were m ade with the intention of misleading Sears.

The court concludes that the allegations in the complaint establish that Baretta Financial

violated the FDCPA. The FDCPA forbids the use of tdany false, deceptive, or misleading

representation or means'' in debt collection, and provides a non-exhaustive list of prohibited

conduct. 15 U.S.C. j 1692e. Such conduct includes Séltjhe threat to take any action that cannot

legally be taken or that is not intended to be taken.'' 15 U.S.C. j 1692e(5). This particular

sedion is violated Stif (1) a debtor would reasonably believe that the noticel) threatenls) legal

action; and (2) the debt collector does not intend to take legal action.'' Nat'l Fin. Servs.. lnc., 98

F.3d at 135. W hether a communication violates this provision is determined from the vantage of

the ttleast sophisticated consumer.'' ld. at 136,. see also Russell v. Absolute Collection Servs.s

lnc., 763 F.3d 385, 394 (4th Cir. 2014).

In this case, the letter sent by Baretta Financial clearly threatened legal action. Not only

was the letter styled as a (CLITIGATION NOTICE'' with the subject line TIBARETTA

FINANCIAL vs. DAVID SEARS,'' it speciûcally stated that litigation would be commenced if

Sears did not contact the company within ten days. Upon reading the letter, the hypothetical least

sophisticated consumer undoubtedly would interpret the letter as threatening legal action. See.

e.g., Nat'l Fin. Servs.. lnc., 98 F.3d at 136-37 (holding that collection notices threatened legal

action where the notices indicated that the debtor's account would be referred to an attonwy).

The allegations in the complaint further establish that Baretta Financial had no intention of

taking legal action. Sears alleges that Baret'ta Financial has not filed suit against him , that the
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company falsely represented in the letter that it would file suit, and that Baretta Financial knew that

the representations were false at the time the letter was mailed. For these reasons, the court

concludes that Sears has a established a violation of j 1692e(5).

I1.

Having concluded that Sears has established a violation of the FDCPA, the court m ust

Requested Rem edies

determ ine the relief to which he is entitled. Sears specitically seeks to recover statutory dam ages,

attorney's fees, and court costs.

Under 15 U.S.C. j 1692k(a)(2), an individual is entitled to recover statutory fldnmages as

the court may allow, but not exceeding $1,000.'' ln determining an appropriate amount of

damages, the court must consider a number of factors, including the frequency and persistence of

the debt collector's noncompliance, the nattlre of such noncompliance, and the extent to which the

noncompliance was intentional. 15 U.S.C. j 1692k(b)(1).

Applying these factors, the court concludes that Sears is entitled to $1 ,000.00 in statutory

damages. Although liability arises from a single letter, the allegations in the complaint establish

that Baret'ta Financial's noncompliance was deliberate and intentional, and that the letter was

drafted in a thzeatening manner. Accordingly, Baretta Financial will be ordered to pay $1,000.00

in statutory damages.

ln addition to dam ages, the court may award kithe costs of the action, together with a

reasonable attomey's fee.'' 15 U.S.C. j 1692k(a)(3). Sears has submitted an aftidavit from his

attorney, Richard L. Greenberg, Esq., which indicates that Sears has incurred attorney's fees in the

amount of $1,280.00. The affidavit also indicates that Sears has incurred costs in the amount of

$460.00, which include the costs associated with tiling the instant action. The court finds that the

amount of the claim ed attorney's fees is reasonable, and that the record supports awarding costs in



the amount requested by Sears. Accordingly, the judgment will include an award of attorney's

fees and costs in the muount of $1,740.00.

Conclusion

For the reasons stated, the court will grant Sears' motion for default judgment against

Baretta Financial. Judgm ent will be entered in favor of Sears and against Baretta Financial in the

amount of $2,740.00, which consists of $1,000.00 in statutory dnmages and $1,740.00 in

attorney's fees and costs.

The Clerk is directed to send certified copies of this m emorandum opinion and the

accompanying order to the defendant and all counsel of record.

zWday orlune
, 2015.sx-l-sR: This 5

Chief United States District Judge
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